

# MINISTRY OF NATIONAL DEVELOPMENT PLANNING

# NATIONAL POLICY ON CLIMATE CHANGE

Ministry of lands, Natural Resources and Environmental Protection

April 2016



#### **FOREWORD**



Climate change has emerged as one of the most pressing issues in Zambia affecting socio economic development. The country is already experiencing climate induced hazards, which include drought and dry spells, seasonal and flash floods and extreme temperatures. Some of these hazards, especially the droughts and floods have increased in frequency and intensity over the past few decades and have adversely impacted on the food and water security, water quality, energy and sustainable livelihoods of

rural communities.

Conscious of the threats posed by climate change to the development process including attainment of the Vision 2030, Government has taken necessary steps to minimize the potential for further damage. However, the steps and actions undertaken so far on mitigating climate change and adaptation to the adverse impacts of climate change have been fragmented and done in an ad-hoc manner.

It is from this background that Government has developed the National Policy on Climate Change to provide a framework for coordinated response to climate change issues. It gives guidance on how the Zambian economy can grow in a sustainable manner and thereby fostering a smooth implementation of the Revised Sixth National Development Plan (R-SNDP) and its successor plans including the achievement of the Vision 2030

The NCCP was developed through a broad based consultative process involving all stakeholders. This was done with a view to secure a diverse cross-section of stakeholders from across the country. I am happy to note, with appreciation, that the Policy was formulated based on stakeholders needs and has given special consideration for vulnerable groups such as poor rural women, children and youths in the backdrop of the decentralization process being advanced by Government.

Finally, I wish to implore all stakeholders to work together and implement this policy in order to achieve its objectives and meet the aspirations of the people of the Republic of Zambia

Inonge Mutukwa Wina
VICE PRESIDENT AND MINISTER OF NATIONAL DEVELOPMENT PLANNING
REPUBLIC OF ZAMBIA

#### **ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**



The development of the National Climate Change Policy was based on a consultative process involving all key stakeholders across all sectors. Accordingly, due appreciation and special thanks is being extended to all stakeholders who participated in formulating this Policy. These included the following:

- a) All Government line Ministries and Departments whose staff immensely contributed to the process;
- b) The Members of Parliament for their contributions provided during the validation of the policy;
- c) Provincial Permanent Secretaries and their delegates who participated in the Provincial Consultative Workshops and contributed to the refinement of the Policy;
- d) Private sector institutions and Civil Society Organizations;
- e) Academicians, private climate change experts and consultants who were involved in the development of this Policy;
- All media institutions and those individuals who in one way or another contributed to the development of this Policy;
- g) Members of staff in the Ministry who provided secretarial services; and,

Finally, special thanks are also extended to the Cooperating Partners and in particular the Norwegian Government and United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) Country Office for their financial and technical support.

Hon. Christabel Ngimbu, M.P.

C. Dimby

MINISTER OF LANDS, NATURAL RESOURCES AND ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

#### **ACRONYMS**

BRT Bus Rapid Transport

**BURs** Biennial Update Reports

**CDM** Clean Development Mechanism

**CP** Cooperating Partner

CSA Climate Smart Agriculture
CSOs Civil Society Organizations
FDI Foreign Direct Investment

GDPGross Domestic Product
GHG Greenhouse Gas

GIS Geographical Information System

ICT Information and Communication Technology
IPCC Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change
IWRM Integrated Water Resources Management

**LDC** Least Developed Countries

MDP Ministry of Development Planning

MEAs Multilateral Environmental Agreements

M&E Monitoring and Evaluation

MFI Multilateral Finance Institution

MLNREP Ministry of Lands, Natural Resources and Environmental Protection

NAMA Nationally Appropriate Mitigation Action
NAPA National Adaptation Programme of Action

NCCC National Climate Change Council
NCCF National Climate Change Fund
NMT Non-Motorized Transport

NPCC National Policy on Climate Change

**REDD+** Reducing Emissions from Deforestation and forest Degradation,

the role of Conservation, Sustainable Forest Management and

enhancement of Forests Carbon Stock

**UNDP** United Nations Development Programme

**UNFCCC** United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change

#### WORKING DEFINITIONS

**Adaptation:** Refers to actions aimed at managing the known

and unknown impacts of climate change.

Capacity Building: Capacity building and capacity development for

climate change refers to the development or strengthening of (a) individual skills/expertise and/or (b) relevant institutions and organizations, to reduce GHG emissions and/or to reduce

vulnerability and adapt to climate change.

**Carbon Markets/Trading:** Is an international market regime in which carbon

emission reductions allowances or credits are bought and sold. The market is divided into two categories, namely regulatory (i.e. under the Kyoto Protocol), and voluntary (which emerged to fulfill the demand from organizations and businesses that wish to offset their carbon

emissions voluntarily).

Clean Development

**Climate Change:** 

Mechanism: A market based mechanism under the Kyoto

Protocol through which industrialized countries (Annex I countries) invest in projects in developing countries that yield emission reduction which go

towards their commitment under the Protocol.

A change of climate, which is attributed directly or indirectly to human activities that alter the composition of the global atmosphere, and which is additional to natural variability, and observed

over comparable periods of time.

Climate Variability: Variations in the mean state and other statistics

(such as standard deviations, the occurrences of extremes, etc.) of the climate on temporal and spatial scales beyond that of individual weather events largely due to natural internal processes

within the climate system.

Climate:

Climate encompasses the statistics of meteorological conditions, that is, temperature, humidity, atmospheric pressure, wind, rainfall, atmospheric particle count and other meteorological elements in a given region over long periods of time (usually 30 years).

Conference of the Parties to UNFCCC:

The meeting of countries, which are party to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC), and it is the supreme decision making body of the Convention.

**Emissions:** 

Refers to the release of greenhouse gases and/or their precursors into the atmosphere over a specific area and period of time. This term is used interchangeably with GHGs in this document.

**Global Warming:** 

Refers to the gradual increase, observed or projected, in global surface temperatures, as a consequence of the disturbance in the climate system.

**Greenhouse Gases:** 

Greenhouse gases are those gaseous constituents of the atmosphere, both natural and human induced that absorbs and re-emits infrared radiation.

Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change:

It is an international body that assesses climate change and provides best available science on climate change.

**Kyoto Protocol:** 

The Kyoto Protocol is an international legally binding agreement under the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change, which gives legally binding emission reduction targets to industrialized countries.

Mainstreaming:

Mainstreaming refers to the integration of climate change considerations into the development planning process, sector and local level plans.

**Mitigation:** Mitigation refers to efforts that seek to prevent or

slow down the increase of atmospheric GHG concentrations by limiting current and future emissions and enhancing potential sinks for

greenhouse gases.

National Adaptation Programmes of Action:

These are plans for adaptation by which Least Developed Countries (LDCs) identify priority activities that respond to their urgent and immediate needs to adapt to climate change.

Nationally Appropriate Mitigation Actions:

Refers to a set of policies and actions countries undertake to reduce greenhouse gas emissions.

Reducing Emissions from Deforestation and Forest Degradation:

Is an incentive-based mechanism that seeks to reduce emissions of GHGs from deforestation and forest degradation, and the role of conservation, sustainable management of forests carbon stocks.

Resilience:

The ability of a system and its component parts to anticipate, absorb, accommodate or recover from the events of the hazardous event in a timely and efficient manner.

**Sustainable Development:** 

The development that meets the needs of current generations, without compromising the ability of the future generations to meet theirs.

**Technology Transfer:** 

A broad set of processes covering the flows of know-how, experience and equipment for mitigating and adapting to climate change amongst different stakeholders such as governments, private sector entities, financial institutions, non-governmental organizations and research/education institutions.

United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change:

A global agreement on climate change, which sets an overall framework for intergovernmental efforts to tackle the challenge posed by climate change whose objective is to stabilize GHGs concentration in the atmosphere to level that would prevent dangerous human induced interference with the climate system.

**Vulnerability:** 

The degree of susceptibility to the negative effects of climate change. It is a function of the type, magnitude and frequency of climate events to which a system is exposed to (exposure) as well as the sensitivity of the system and its capacity for adaptation (adaptive capacity).

# National Policy on Climate Change

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

FOREWORD	ii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iii
ACRONYMS	iv
WORKING DEFINITIONS	v
Table of Contents	ix
1.0 INTRODUCTION	2
2.0 SITUATION ANALYSIS	3
2.1 The International Context	3
2.2 Climate Change in Zambia	3
2.2.1 Greenhouse Gases Emissions	4
2.3 Impacts of Climate Change	4
2.3.1 Water Sector	5
2.3.2 Agriculture Sector	5
2.3.3 Forestry Sector	5
2.3.4 Wildlife Sector	ε
2.3.5 Tourism Sector	6
2.3.6 Mining Sector	7
2.3.7 Energy Sector	7
2.3.8 Health Sector	7
2.3.9 Cross Cutting Issues	8
3.0 VISION	9
4.0 RATIONALE	9
5.0 GUIDING PRINCIPLES	9
6.0 POLICY OBJECTIVES	11
6.1 Overall Objective	11
6.2 Specific Objectives	11

7.0 MEASURES
7.1 Adaptation and Disaster Risk Reduction
7.2 Mitigation and Low-Emission Development-Related Actions 13
7.3 Measures Related to Cross Cutting
7.3.1 Capacity Building14
7.3.2 Research and Development
7.3.3 Education and Public Awareness19
7.3.4 Gender1
7.3.5 Technology Development and Transfer
7.3.6 Promotion of Green Investments
7.3.7 Mainstreaming
8.0 IMPLEMENTATION FRAMEWORK
8.1 Institutional Arrangements
8.1.1 Council of Ministers18
8.1.2 Steering Committee of Permanent Secretaries1
8.1.3 Ministry of Lands, Natural Resources and Environmental Protection20
8.1.4 Ministry of National Development Planning23
8.1.5 Ministry of Finance2
8.1.6 Disaster Management and Mitigation Unit
8.1.7 Climate Change Department
8.2 Legal Framework
8.3 Resource Mobilization and Financing27
8.4 Monitoring and Evaluation (M&E)
LIST OF FIGURES
Figure 1: Institutional Arrangement for the Coordination of Climate Change Action in Zambia

#### 1.0 INTRODUCTION

It is widely recognized that climate change constitutes a significant and serious threat to sustainable development of any country, including Zambia. Evidence shows that Zambia has over the past years experienced a number of climate related hazards including droughts and dry spells, seasonal and flash floods, and extreme temperatures. Some of these, especially droughts and floods have increased in frequency and intensity over the last two decades and have adversely impacted on food and water security, energy and livelihoods of communities. Temperatures also indicate a rising trend with potential for increased heat stress, land degradation and desertification. Such impacts are likely to compound the daunting economic and social challenges the country already faces. Therefore, actions to minimize the potential future impacts of climate change are critical.

Conscious of the serious risk of the fundamental disruption that climate change poses to the already challenging attainment of national development goals, the Vision 2030, the Government is treating climate change as a developmental challenge and taking all necessary actions to minimize the potential for further damage. This National Policy on Climate Change (NPCC) has been developed to support and facilitate a coordinated response to climate change issues in the country. It will enable Zambia to re-align its climate-sensitive sectors of the economy and its society in order to meet its development goals through adaptation and mitigation interventions. At the same time, it will contribute to the achievement of the overall objective of the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) which is "stabilization of greenhouse gas concentrations in the atmosphere at a level that would prevent dangerous anthropogenic interference with the climate system". Zambia signed and ratified the UNFCCC on 11<sup>th</sup> June, 1992 and 28<sup>th</sup> May, 1993 respectively.

The policy document is presented in eight (8) sections, reflecting its primary objective and indicating the measures to be taken by the Government and other stakeholders to respond to the challenges posed by climate change. In Section 1, introduces climate change as a real challenge and the potential threat it poses to development objectives. The broad-based consultative process that was followed in the development of the NPCC is also outlined. The prevailing climate change related conditions as evidenced by changes in temperature, rainfall and extreme events including the potential impacts of such changes on key economic sectors and the natural resource base are presented in Section 2. The vision of the NPCC is stated in Section 3. Section 4 provides the rationale while Section 5 states the guiding principles that underpin the policy objectives. In Section 6, the specific objectives of the NPCC are outlined. The key sectors and a set of policy measures are detailed in Section 7. In Section 8, the implementation framework to guide the implementation of the policy is presented.

#### 2.0 SITUATION ANALYSIS

#### 2.1 The International Context

Climate change is widely recognized as one of the major challenges facing humankind as highlighted in the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC, 2007). To address such a global issue, the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change was adopted in 1992. The main objective of the UNFCCC is to stabilize GHG concentrations in the atmosphere to a level that would prevent dangerous human induced interference with the climate system. In order to implement the provisions of the convention, Parties are encouraged to formulate and implement measures to mitigate climate change by addressing anthropogenic emissions of Green House Gases (GHGs) and facilitate adaptation to its impacts. This is to ensure that climate change does not compound the economic and social challenges already faced by the world and developing countries in particular.

# 2.2 Climate Change in Zambia

The Government recognizes the serious impact of climate change in Zambia on human and ecosystems from the studies that have been carried out. These studies have allowed Zambia to:

- have a better understanding of its local climate and prediction of local climate change and variability;
- (ii) improve its capacity to assess impacts of climate change and vulnerability;
- (iii) make informed decisions on appropriate adaptation and mitigation actions to respond to climate change; and
- (iv) initiate actions to benefit from other opportunities as provided for in the convention and its Kyoto Protocol while meeting the aspirations and obligations within the international framework.

These studies have revealed that there has been an increase in the frequency of extreme events such as floods and droughts over the past four decades. Further, the studies have shown that the rainy season is becoming shorter (starting late and ending early) and more intense while a trend towards an increase in temperature in both the cooler and warmer seasons was also observed. In addition, studies show that the mean annual temperature has increased by 1.3°C between 1960 and 2003, which is approximately twice the increase in the average global temperature during the same period. Within the region, countries such as South Africa, Lesotho, Swaziland, Namibia and Angola observed a 0.6 -1°C during a comparable period. Further, there has been

remarkable rainfall variability over the same period.

The predicted future trends in the country are towards higher average temperature resulting in increased rainfall intensity and variability. Furthermore, the proportion of total rainfall that falls in heavy events is projected to increase annually but mainly in December, January and February. The mean annual temperature is projected to increase by a further 1.2 to 3.4°C by the 2060s, with the projected rate of warming expected to be a little more rapid in the southern and western regions of Zambia than in the northern and eastern regions.

#### 2.2.1 Greenhouse Gases Emissions

According to the Second National Communication (SNC), GHGs emissions in Zambia have increased by 6.2% from 51.52 million tones  $CO_2$  equivalent ( $CO_2^e$ ) in 1994 to 54.72 million tones  $CO_2$  equivalent ( $CO_2^e$ ) in 2000. The largest contribution to GHG emissions in 2000 came from land use change and forestry, which accounted for 73.7% followed by agriculture at 18.9%. Energy contributed 4.8% followed by industrial processes and waste at 1.8% and 0.8%, respectively. The total GHG emissions from all sectors are projected to increase from 54.7 million from all the sectors in the year 2000 to 216.8 million tones  $CO_2$  Equivalent by the year 2030 if the country does not put in place measures to reduce greenhouse gas emissions.

# 2.3 Impacts of Climate Change

Zambia is vulnerable to the adverse impacts of climate change as a result of its geographical location, the multiple socio-economic stresses it is subjected to, and its low adaptive capacity. According to the study, on the economic impacts of climate change conducted in 2011 by Government a Gross Domestic Product (GDP) loss of about USD 5 Billion over a 10 to 20 year period was estimated. The study estimated that loss of agricultural productivity and its associated effects on poverty levels, the potential impact of an energy crisis related to power generation, the higher costs of treating climate related diseases such as malaria, and the loss of natural environments which provide critical services to urban, peri-urban, and rural communities are major contributors to GDP loss. It is therefore important to note that Zambia's socioeconomic well-being and ecosystem is likely to be mainly impacted upon in the following sectors.

#### 2.3.1 Water Sector

The water resources in Zambia represent about 40% of the water resources in the Southern African region. The country has major rivers such as the Zambezi, the fourth largest in Africa and its tributaries (Luangwa and Kafue), and lakes such as Tanganyika, Mweru, Bangweulu and Kariba. In as much as Zambia has abundant water resources, the country has isolated semi-arid areas in the southern and western parts.

With changes in rainfall variability, these regions have experienced devastating floods and/or droughts. Furthermore, both flood and drought conditions have worsen access to safe and clean drinking water among households. This situation has increased the prevalence of water borne diseases and labour burden on women and girls who are the main drawers of water for their households in the peri-urban and rural areas. Other impacts of climate change on ecosystems include reduced flows and drying up of water bodies leading to possible degradation of aquatic habitats and disruption of aquatic ecosystem functions and services.

### 2.3.2 Agriculture Sector

Agriculture sector, which employs 67% of the labour force, remains the main source of income and employment particularly for both rural women and men. The sector also contributes between 16 to 20% of the country's national GDP and provides livelihood for more than 50% of the population.

This sector, being highly dependent on rainfall, is very sensitive to climate change. The resultant adverse impacts on crops, livestock and fisheries lead to reduction of agricultural productivity thereby contributing to food insecurity.

The increase in temperatures has resulted in increased difficulties in the control and management of pests and diseases. Droughts and flooding have also resulted in crop failure, reduced livestock production and the consequent food insecurity. Climate variability has kept a proportion of the population dependent on subsistence agriculture, below the national poverty line.

# 2.3.3 Forestry Sector

Forests cover approximately 66% of the land in Zambia, which translates, into approximately 49.97 million hectares of which gazetted forest reserves cover an estimated 9.6%. Forests play an important role in promoting the absorption of carbon from the atmosphere and providing important services such as watershed protection.

For example, in Zambia most of the water resources originate in forested watersheds, which make forestry very important in regulating water quality and quantity for livelihoods.

In 2008, deforestation rate was estimated at 250,000 – 300,000 hectares per year. With high rate of deforestation coupled with climate change, the growth, composition and regeneration capacity of forests has been grossly affected resulting in reduced biodiversity and ability to deliver important forest products and services. Furthermore, climate change promotes the emergence of invasive species.

#### 2.3.4 Wildlife Sector

Wildlife resources play a very important role in the national economy as it supports tourism, which, in 2008 contributed 3% to the country's GDP. The sector is considered as a major potential growth engine for years to come.

The open and closed grasslands and forests constitute the natural habitats of endemic species and other large wild animals including lions, buffaloes and elephants. Water animals like hippo and crocodile and a variety of bird species also inhabit the rivers, lakes and other wetland ecosystems. In relation to the impacts of climate change, drought conditions reduces soil moisture and give rise to poor quality fodder, stress, uncontrolled migration and wildlife-human conflicts. Under excessive rainfall, wetland animals like the Lechwe and Puku would be adversely affected.

#### 2.3.5 Tourism Sector

Tourism including Arts and Culture is one of the priority sectors for development in Zambia. The sector has the potential to be a major contributor to socio-economic development of the country. Popular tourist attractions such as the Victoria Falls, and the rich biodiversity and culture of Zambia are important tourism assets, which ensure that the tourism sector continues to be one of the most important economic sectors of the country.

However, the sector is very vulnerable to climate change because of its dependence on wildlife and water resources. Droughts and floods affect water levels of the different waterfalls including the famous Victoria Falls, thus affecting the flow of tourists visiting the country.

# 2.3.6 Mining Sector

For many decades, mining has been a major driver of the Zambian economy contributing significantly to the country's GDP. Production of copper, cobalt, coal and gemstone has great potential that has yet to be fully realized. However, mining activities are seriously affected by floods causing disruption of mining activities. For example, in 2005, coal production at the Maamba coal mines was affected by heavy storms and floods, which caused four (4) months of operations shutdown.

# 2.3.7 Energy Sector

The energy sector is an important component of the economy. The largest source of energy in Zambia is biomass, with 75% of the country's energy supply being from charcoal and firewood. Zambia also has abundant hydroelectric generation potential with 99.9% of electricity produced from hydrological sources.

Currently, 25% of the national population has access to electricity. From this number, 49.3% are found in urban areas and 3.2% in the rural areas. Frequent drought and flood conditions negatively affect the availability of fuel wood thereby increasing the time taken and labour required to collect it. This burden falls primarily upon women and girls.

Climate change will, unfortunately, have significant impacts as droughts and rising temperatures lead to gradual drying up of biomass and result in a reduction in the availability of fuel wood. Alterations in the hydrology of the country will result in worsening droughts and more dangerous flooding, thus raising safety concerns for dams.

The economic impacts of climate change on hydropower generation will be felt in both the cost of power cuts and wasted investments in dams that will have inadequate water to generate electricity.

#### 2.3.8 Health Sector

Climate impacts add to the strain already felt by the public health sector in Zambia. Rising temperatures and changing precipitation patterns are responsible for the expansion of the disease vector habitats. For example, diseases, like malaria, are spreading to areas where they were not prevalent before. The outbreaks of bilharzia have also been reported during past floods, while diseases like cholera, typhoid and dysentery have reached an epidemic proportion in the face of climate change.

Water-borne diseases have become more widespread as safe water becomes inaccessible and/or in case of flooding. Sanitary infrastructure in many areas is inadequate or lacking and such a situation has favored the spread of deadly diseases that are linked to rising temperatures, high rainfall and inadequate waste disposal facilities.

# 2.3.9 Cross cutting Issues

Climate change affects men, women, youth, children and differently-abled persons in different ways. Of significance is the fact that women and children are most vulnerable to health impacts given their traditional roles in the society.

Further, climate change adversely affects vulnerable groups whose livelihoods largely depends on natural resources, such as forestry and water. This results in food insecurity and shortage of water. In addition, the vulnerable groups tend to be under-represented in decision making on climate change, which in turn severely limits their ability to contribute, implement and apply their expertise.

However, it is important to note that these different groups are also agents of climate change based on their respective economic activities.

Given the above situational analysis, it is evident that climate change will impact further on Zambia's economy if measures are not put in place to address it. This has necessitated the development of the policy in order to address the challenges posed by climate change.

#### 3.0 VISION

The Vision under this Policy is "A prosperous and climate resilient economy by 2030".

#### 4.0 RATIONALE

The rationale for formulating the NPCC is to establish a coordinated national response to climate change. Currently, climate change issues are being addressed in a fragmented manner using various sectoral policies, strategies and plans and these have had limited overall effect.

The NPCC is therefore, envisaged to provide a framework that will allow the implementation of existing, and future initiatives and opportunities in a more coordinated manner, while providing a long-term vision to achieve sustainable development. The country, therefore, intends to fully integrate climate change into its development plans. This work will be enhanced by the overall framework provided by the Policy. The NPCC will furthermore provide a framework for attracting finance and investments to achieve sustainable development goals.

#### 5.0 GUIDING PRINCIPLES

This policy is guided by the following principles:

a) Sustainable Climate Change response:

All climate change actions shall be environmentally sustainable and positively contribute to national economic growth and social development objectives, including poverty alleviation, access to natural resources and basic amenities, gender equality and equity and infrastructure development.

b) Compliant with international obligations:

All climate change interventions shall promote and fulfill relevant international obligations as enshrined in various Multilateral Environmental Agreements (MEAs) on Climate Change.

c) Resilience building as an integral part of the development process:

All developmental efforts shall contribute to building resilience to climate change

d) Collectiveness and inclusiveness:

Climate change response measures shall be done collectively and inclusively.

e) Consultative approach:

Climate change actions shall be undertaken in an integrated, consultative and multi-stakeholder approach with special consideration for vulnerable groups.

*f)* Ecosystem integrity

Climate change actions shall take into account the important role ecosystems play in addressing the impacts of climate change.

g) Complementarity of Adaptation, Disaster Risk Reduction (DRR) and mitigation:

Climate change actions shall recognize the complementarity of adaptation, disaster risk reduction and mitigation.

#### 6.0 POLICY OBJECTIVES

# 6.1 Overall objective

The overall objective is to provide a framework for coordinating climate change programmes in order to ensure climate resilient and low carbon development pathways for sustainable development towards the attainment of 7ambia's Vision 2030.

# 6.2 Specific objectives

- To promote and strengthen the implementation of adaptation and disaster risk reduction measures to reduce vulnerability to climate variability and change;
- 2. To promote and implement sustainable land-use management practices in order to contribute to reducing GHG emissions from land use and land use change and forestry;
- To promote mainstreaming of climate change into policies, plans and strategies at all levels in order to account for Climate Change risks and opportunities in decision making and implementation;
- 4. To strengthen the institutional and human resource capacity in order to effectively and efficiently address all aspects of climate change at international, national, provincial, district and local levels:
- To promote communication and dissemination of climate change information to enhance awareness and understanding of its impacts;
- To promote investments in climate resilient and low carbon development pathways in order to generate co-benefits and provide incentives for addressing climate change more effectively;
- To foster research and development in order to improve understanding and decision making in responding to climate change;
- To engender Climate Change programmes and activities in order to enhance gender equality and equity in the implementation of climate change programmes; and

To develop and promote appropriate technologies and build national capacity to benefit from climate change technological transfer.

#### 7.0 MEASURES

This section outlines the policy measures that will be implemented in order to achieve the objectives of the National Policy on Climate Change (NPCC). In implementing these measures, all sectors will expected to take the provisions of the INDC into account.

# 7.1 Adaptation and Disaster Risk Reduction

# 7.1.1 Objective:

To promote and strengthen the implementation of adaptation and disaster risk reduction measures to reduce vulnerability to climate variability and change.

#### 7.1.2 Measures:

- Strengthen the mechanism for identifying risks and hazards in order to facilitate planning and early warning;
- Strengthen surveillance and control of climate change related pests and diseases;
- Strengthen the resilience of infrastructure, ecosystems and promote innovation, knowledge and education;
- d) Promote Community-based risk management activities and use of social safety nets for the most vulnerable;
- e) Promote use of financial instruments such as weather-indexed insurance, carbon instruments and catastrophic bonds to enhance resilience and cover climate related risks;
- f) Promote the adoption of appropriate Climate Smart Agricultural (CSA) technologies for different agro-ecological zones;
- g) Promote landscape based livelihood diversification;
- h) Promote monitoring and management of wildlife habitats;
- Establish and/or strengthen mechanisms for monitoring networks and information systems for improved utilization of climatic data and information:
- j) Promote climate change related public health plans and

- interventions;
- k) Promote the communities' ability to develop physical and social infrastructure that are resilient to the adverse effects of climate change; and
- Promote the protection of water catchment areas, including the development of environmentally friendly infrastructure for bulk water transfer (water ways), storage, management and utilization of water resources.

# 7.2 Mitigation and Low-Emission Development-Related Actions

Zambia's emissions are still low compared to those of developed countries and emerging economies. However, the country will endeavor to develop and implement mitigation programmes that have complementary adaptation co-benefits and in line with the country's development priorities. In order to ensure effective and sustained greenhouse gas inventory reporting, the GHGs inventory management system shall be established. The following mitigation measures will be implemented in key sectors of the economy in order to achieve the objectives of this Policy:

# 7.2.1 Objective:

To promote investments in climate resilient and low carbon development pathways in order to generate co-benefits and provide incentives for addressing climate change more effectively.

#### 7.2.2 Measures:

- a) Promote sustainable land use planning to protect key ecosystems and related services such as carbon sinks;
- b) Promote landscape based livelihood diversification;
- Promote the development and implementation of Nationally Appropriate Mitigation Action (NAMAs) in the sectors;
- d) Ensure that investments adhere to sustainable development principles and are in line with low-carbon development principles;
- e) Promote scaling up of alternative energy sources, energy efficiency and conservation;
- f) Reduce forest degradation and loss of forest ecosystems; and
- g) Strengthen the fire management and soil conservation.

# 7.3 Measures Related to Crosscutting Issues

# 7.3.1 Capacity Building

# 7.3.1.1 Objective

To strengthen the institutional and human resource capacity in order to effectively and efficiently address all aspects of climate change at, national, provincial, district and local levels.

#### **7.3.1.2** Measures

- a) Promote stakeholders participation and partnerships that integrate climate change in natural resources management at all levels;
- b) Enhance the capacity of rural economies to diversify, by promoting alternative income generating activities that are climate resilient;
- c) Promote capacity building in climate change response actions;
- d) Facilitate implementation of capacity development programmes in modeling and systematic observation;
- e) Enhance the capacity of institutions to mobilize and utilize external and domestic climate financial resources;
- f) Enhance the monitoring and review of the effectiveness of capacity-building programmes;
- Promote consideration of gender aspects and the role and needs of youth and persons with disabilities in capacity-building activities;
- h) Promote public education and awareness to enhance the capacity to address climate change;
- Build capacity in developing innovations and technologies and adoption and utilization of external technologies; and
- j) Strengthen the capacity of local technological innovation centers to help strengthen institutional technology generation and transfer through a learning-by-doing approach.

# 7.3.2 Research and Development

# 7.3.2.1 Objective:

To foster research and development in order to improve understanding and decision making in responding to climate change

.

#### **7.3.2.2** Measures

- a) Promote research and development (R&D) to address climate change/ variability in all sectors;
- b) Promote the use of prediction models and technologies to determine regional vulnerability of the sectors to climate change;
- c) Support higher learning and research institutions on climate related applied research; and
- d) Facilitate research, development and demonstration of new climate-friendly technologies for mitigation and adaptation.

#### 7.3.3 Education and Public Awareness

# 7.3.3.1 Objective

To promote communication and dissemination of climate change information to enhance awareness and understanding of its opportunities and impacts.

#### **7.3.3.2** Measures

- a) Facilitate climate change advocacy, communication and awareness;
- b) Strengthen climate change education, training and public awareness at all levels;
- c) Develop and implement an information generation, sharing and exchange mechanism for climate change;
- d) Promote involvement of local authorities and traditional leaders in climate change education, public awareness including the use of indigenous knowledge; and
- e) Promote dissemination of research findings at all levels.

#### **7.3.4 Gender**

#### 7.3.4.1 Objective

To engender Climate Change programmes and activities in order to enhance gender equality and equity in the implementation of climate change programmes.

#### 7.3.4.2 Measures

- a) Promote gender differentiation and implementation of genderspecific measures on climate change;
- b) Improve the participation of women, youth and children in climate change programmes;
- c) Promote gender equity in access to climate finances.

# 7.3.5 Technology Development and Transfer

# **7.3.5.1** Objective

To develop and promote appropriate technologies and build national capacity to benefit from climate change technological transfer.

#### 7.3.5.2 Measures

- Facilitate the development, deployment, diffusion, transfer, and promotion of access to affordable environmentally sound technologies;
- Promote identification and utilization of available climate-friendly technologies for mitigation and adaptation that meet low-carbon and climate-resilient development needs;
- c) Promote use of indigenous knowledge and local innovation on climate change;
- d) Encourage protection of local innovation and intellectual property rights;
- e) Facilitate establishment and strengthening of climate technology centers/networks; and
- f) Provide incentives for development and transfer of appropriate climate-related technologies.

#### 7.3.6 Promotion of Green Investments

# 7.3.6.1 Objective

To promote investments in climate resilient and low carbon development pathways in order to generate co-benefits and provide

incentives for addressing climate change more effectively.

#### 7.3.6.2 Measures

- a) Promote investments in renewable energy resource development and increase the proportion of renewable energy in the total energy mix:
- b) Provide incentives for low emission technologies;
- Promote investments in non-motorized modes of transport (NMT);
   and
- d) Promote environmentally friendly investments in all relevant sectors.

# 7.3.7 Mainstreaming

# 7.3.7.1 Objective

To promote mainstreaming of climate change into policies, plans and strategies at all levels in order to account for Climate Change risks and opportunities in decision making and implementation.

#### 7.3.7.2 Measures

- a) Strengthen effective mainstreaming of climate change, response and sustainable recovery from climate related disasters;
- b) Promote Strategic Environmental Assessments (SEAs) as a tool for integration of low emission principles;
- c) Promote mainstreaming of gender into all climate change programmes;
- d) Facilitate mainstreaming of climate change into school curriculum;
- e) Develop and implement codes and standards to promote adaptation and mitigation in infrastructure development; and
- f) Promote integration of climate change considerations by Local Authorities.

#### 8.0 IMPLEMENTATION FRAMEWORK

# 8.1 Institutional Arrangements

The effective implementation of the National Policy on Climate Change will be achieved through collaborative efforts by all stakeholders (see Figure 1).

#### 8.1.1 Council of Ministers

The Council of Ministers shall be the supreme decision making body for overseeing Climate Change interventions in the country. Its composition will be identical to the Council of Ministers responsible for disaster management as provided for in the *Disaster Management Act No. 13 of 2010 with the inclusion of the Minister responsible for Development Planning. The Chairperson shall be the Vice President*. Any other Minister may be co-opted to the Council when need arises. The Permanent Secretary from the Ministry responsible for National Development Planning shall be a Secretariat to the Council of Ministers. The following will be the responsibilities of the Council of Ministers:

- a) Providing policy guidance to facilitate the mainstreaming and integration of climate change activities in National Development Plans, Sector Policies and Plans including private sector and nonstate actors:
- Providing policy guidance on various Monitoring and Evaluation reports that will emanate from Climate Change implementing entities;
- c) Providing policy guidance to facilitate resource mobilization for Climate Change interventions;
- d) Providing policy guidance to ensure that climate change Programmes are complementary and result in sustained positive impacts on the economy and people's livelihoods; and
- e) Providing policy guidance to the Steering Committee of Permanent Secretaries on Climate Change.

### 8.1.2 Steering Committee of Permanent Secretaries

The Steering Committee shall be the main advisory body to the Council of Ministers on policy and programme coordination and implementation. The Steering Committee of Permanent Secretaries shall be chaired by the Permanent Secretary in the Ministry responsible for National Development Planning. The composition of the steering Committee shall include Permanent Secretaries from the ministries responsible for:

- i. National Development Planning
- ii. Local Government
- iii. Health
- iv. Energy
- v. Agriculture
- vi. Environment and Natural Resources
- vii. Communications
- viii. Minerals Development
- ix. Information and Broadcasting
- x. Works and Supply
- xi. Home Affairs
- xii. Disaster Management and Mitigation
- xiii. Gender

The Permanent Secretary from the Ministry responsible for Environment and Natural Resources shall be the secretariat to the Steering Committee. The following, therefore, will be the responsibilities:

- a) Overseeing the development/revision of appropriate policies, and legislation to facilitate the implementation of the National Policy on Climate Change as guided by the Council of Ministers in consultation with other stakeholders;
- b) Ensuring the development of the Climate Change policy implementation plan, in collaboration with other stakeholders;
- c) Overseeing the monitoring and evaluation of the implantation of the

- Climate Change Policy implementation Plan and report to the Council of Ministers through the Secretariat
- Ensuring the implementation of international agreements on climate change and report to the Council of Ministers through the Secretariat
- e) Reporting on progress of various programmes and projects related to Climate Change to the Council of Ministers through the Secretariat

# 8.1.3 Ministry of Lands, Natural Resources and Environmental Protection

The Ministry responsible for Environment and Natural Resources will be the lead institution in overseeing the implementation of this Policy and will report to the Steering Committee of Permanent Secretaries. There shall be a Technical Committee comprising representatives from relevant Ministries and other key stakeholders. The Technical Committee will be chaired by the Permanent Secretary from the Ministry responsible for Environment and Natural Resources. The Ministry will have the following responsibilities:

- a) Developing and/or reviewing in consultation with other stakeholders, appropriate policies, and legislation to facilitate the implementation of the National Policy on Climate Change;
- b) Developing, in collaboration with other stakeholders, the policy implementation plan;
- c) Monitoring and evaluating implementation of the Policy in line with its mandate; and
- d) Coordinating the implementation of international agreements on climate change.
- e) Reporting to the Steering Committee of Permanent Secretaries on progress made on the implementation of the Climate Change Policy

# 8.1.4 Ministry of National Development Planning

The Ministry responsible for National Development Planning, will be responsible for overall coordination and oversight, and mainstreaming of Climate Change in National development planning processes. The following, therefore, will be the responsibilities of the Ministry:

- Facilitating the mainstreaming and integration of climate change activities in all the sectors, including private sector and non-state actors;
- Monitoring and evaluating the overall implementation of Climate Change programmes and projects across the sectors in line with its mandate; and
- c) Supporting resource mobilization initiatives for Climate Change programmes in the country
- Ensuring that climate change Programmes are complementary and result in sustained positive impacts on the economy and people's livelihoods;
- e) Developing and Coordinating the Implementation of the Climate Change mainstreaming strategy;
- f) Reporting to the Council of Ministers on progress made on the overall implementation of Climate Change programmes in the country

# 8.1.5 Ministry of Finance

The Ministry responsible for Finance will be responsible for resource mobilization in line with its mandate. The following, therefore, will be the responsibilities:

- a) Providing Policy guidance on resource mobilization;
- b) Facilitating the acquisition of resources for Climate Change programmes through innovative financial instruments; and

c) Reporting to the Steering Committee of Permanent Secretaries on progress made on resource mobilization for Climate Change programmes in the country.

# 8.1.6 Disaster Management and Mitigation Unit

The Disaster Management and Mitigation Unit will be responsible for the following:

- a) Development and implementation of Climate Change related disaster preparedness and response programmes;
- b) Conducting Comprehensive National Vulnerability Assessments and Risk Mapping;
- Ensuring effective institutional structures and good governance on disaster risk reduction and adaptation;
- d) Coordination of Early Warning activities related to Climate Change;
   and
- Reporting to the Steering Committee of Permanent Secretaries on issues of Climate Change Adaptation and Disaster Risk Reduction related to Climate Change.

### 8.1.7 Climate Change Department

In order to facilitate effective implementation of this policy, a Department of Climate Change shall be established. The established Department will take over the relevant functions of the Interim Climate Change Secretariat and will sit in the Ministry responsible for Environment and Natural Resources. For purposes of coordination, overall oversight and mainstreaming of climate change in national development planning processes, this Department will closely collaborate with the Ministry responsible for National Development Planning. The responsibilities of the Department will include the following:

- Facilitating the implementation of all climate change programmes/projects in all sectors in collaboration with relevant stakeholders;
- b) Facilitating capacity building in institutions and agencies implementation Climate Change projects;
- Facilitating the strengthening of climate change information systems;
- Ensuring and /or providing technical backstopping on climate change programmes.
- e) Ensuring monitoring and evaluation of the implementation of climate change projects in all sectors;
- f) Reporting to government and other stakeholders on climate change Implementation;
- g) Facilitating research in climate change;
- h) Facilitating education and public awareness on climate change; and
- i) Reporting to the Technical Committee on the implementation of Climate Change programmes/projects.

Other stakeholders who will be involved in the implementation of the policy in line with their mandate:

- a) Line Ministries; Relevant Statutory Bodies;
- b) Local Authorities;
- c) Traditional Leaders and local Communities;
- d) Civil Society Organizations (CSO)
- e) The Media;
- f) The Private Sector;
- g) Academia; and
- h) Cooperating Partners (CP).

Implementation and Programmes and Outcomes Projects and Outputs Key Result Areas Planning, PS Ministry of Lands, Natural Resources and Environmental Climate Change <u>Development</u> Department Protection Planning Secretariat Multiple Sectors **Technical Committee** Steering Committee **Council of** Vice President PS Lands, Natural Resources and Environmental Development PS National Protection Planning Chair Policy guidelines Reporting ΚĒΥ

Figure 1: Institutional Arrangement for the Coordination of Climate Change Action in Zambia

# 8.2 Legal Framework

The Government will ensure that a comprehensive legal framework for an integrated climate change response is put in place. The sector Ministries will also be expected to review their relevant policies and legislation, in order to ensure that they are in line with the objectives of this Policy.

The implementation of the NPCC shall be complemented by existing sectoral legal frameworks including the following:

ENABLING ACT	PURPOSE		
Environmental Management Act No.	The Act provides for the management of environment		
12 of 2011	and natural resources		
Forest Act No. 4 of 2015	The Act provides for the conservation and protection of		
	forests and trees		
Zambia Wildlife Act No. 15 of 2015	The Act is responsible for wildlife management and conservation		
Lands Act Cap 184	The Act is responsible for the management and administration of land in Zambia		
Agriculture Lands Act Cap 187	The Act provides for sustainable agricultural practices, development, investment and management		
Agriculture (Fertilizer and Feed) Act	The Act provides for the regulation and control of		
No. 13 of 1994, Cap 226	manufacture, processing, importation and sale of agriculture fertilizers.		
Energy Regulations Act No. 23 of 2003	The Act among other issues regulates energy use and efficiency		
Mines and Minerals Act 11 of 2015	The Act provides for mineral and mines development		
Urban and Regional Planning Act No. 3 of 2015	The Act provides for planning for all land in Zambia		
Road Traffic Act No. 11 of 2002	The Act provides for road safety and transport management		
Water Resources Management Act No. 21 of 2011	The Act provides for the regulation and management of water resources		
Zambia Development Agency Act No. 11 of 2006	The Act provides for the trade, investment and industrial development in Zambia		
National Heritage Conservation	The Act provides f or heritage conservation and		
Commission Act, Cap 173	management		
Fisheries Act No. 22 of 2011	The Act provides for sustainable fisheries and aqua cultural development and management.		
Disaster Management Act No. 13 of 2010	The Act provides for Disaster preparedness and response.		
Public Finance Act No. 15 of 2004	The Act provides for the control and management of Public Finances		

For effective implementation of the objectives and measures outlined in the Policy, government shall promulgate new legislation.

# 8.3 Resource Mobilization and Financing

In order to implement the measures proposed in this Policy, additional and substantial financial resources will be required. Funding for the implementation of the Policy will be secured from the following sources:

- a) Government's national budget;
- b) Climate funding from bilateral and multilateral sources;
- c) Private sector finance and Foreign Direct Investments (FDI); and
- d) Any other alternative funding sources.

# 8.4 Monitoring and Evaluation (M&E)

To effectively monitor and evaluate the implementation of the National Policy on Climate Change, a comprehensive M&E framework will be developed. The framework will emphasize on regular progress monitoring and periodic in-depth evaluation to ensure that expected outputs, outcomes and impacts are achieved.

The Ministry responsible for National Development Planning will provide overall oversight on Monitoring and Evaluation of Sectoral Plans and Programmes on Climate Change. The Ministry responsible for Environment and Natural Resources through the Department of Climate Change will facilitate the Monitoring and Evaluation of Climate Change implementation Plans and projects. The Policy will be reviewed periodically to take on board new and emerging issues related to climate change.